
Callaway County Men at War

The Civil War divided Missouri, but in Callaway 
County most soldiers served with the pro-Southern 
Missouri State Guard (MSG), the Confederate Army 
or irregular partisans. The MSG was a state-sanctioned 
force, organized in May 1861 to defend Missouri 
against potential aggressive action by Union military 
authorities in St. Louis. This 
followed President Lincoln’s or-
der for volunteers after the fir-
ing on Fort Sumter in South 
Carolina.

Callaway County quickly 
raised several companies for the 
MSG. First were the Callaway 
Guards, led by Capt. Daniel H. 
McIntyre, a Westminster Col-
lege senior. They and other local 
companies fought under Gen-
eral Sterling Price in 1861 bat-
tles at Carthage, Wilson’s Creek 
(Oak Hills) and Lexington.

Beginning in June 1861, 
Union troops advancing from St. Louis and elsewhere 
forced Missouri Governor Claiborne Fox Jackson and 
his administration into southwest Missouri. There, in 
October 1861, a remnant of the elected legislature de-
clared Missouri seceded. Missouri soon began enroll-
ing Confederate troops, and was represented in both 
the U.S. and Confederate Congresses.

Many MSG soldiers enlisted; some accepted amnes-
ty from the Union and returned home; others retained 
their MSG status. After the March 1862 Confederate 
defeat at Pea Ridge (Elkhorn Tavern), Ark., now-Con-
federate General Price led thousands of his troops to 
fight east of the Mississippi. Many, including Callaway 
men in the 1st Missouri Cavalry (Dismounted) and 
2nd Missouri Infantry Regiments, served in the hard-

fighting “Missouri Brigade” under General Francis M. 
Cockrell (a five-term U.S. senator from Missouri after 
the war). Fighting bravely in battles across the South, 
many never saw home again.

Other volunteers took part — for example — in cav-
alry raids into Missouri under generals like “Jo” Shelby 

or in General Price’s long, ill-fated 
fall 1864 expedition resulting in 
his final defeat at Westport, Mis-
souri.

Union men in Callaway Coun-
ty joined several volunteer units, 
like Colonel (later Brigadier Gen-
eral) Odon Guitar’s 9th Missouri 
State Militia (M.S.M.) Cavalry, 
whom he trained into effective, 
disciplined guerrilla hunters. Gui-
tar won a decisive victory in Calla-
way County July 28, 1862, against 
Colonel Joe Porter’s rebel cavalry 
at Moore’s Mill (Calwood). Some 
joined units of the Missouri En-

rolled Militia (E.M.M.) — like the Callaway Coun-
ty E.M.M. — facilitated by Union Brig. Gen. John 
M. Schofield’s July 22, 1862, order that all able-bod-
ied Missouri men enroll and report for duty. Schofield 
later admitted his measure also drove into the “brush” 
thousands avoiding service; many became Confederate 
soldiers or guerrillas.

	 At least 133 local Union soldiers were slaves who 
joined the U.S. Colored Troops (USCT) from No-
vember 1863 onward. Some enlisted voluntarily; oth-
ers were enrolled by Unionist slave owners who were 
compensated. All were emancipated, serving honor-
ably during the war and early Reconstruction. About 
10 percent died in battle; overall they suffered a very 
high 35 percent casualty rate from all causes.

George W. Law (1828–1873)

Born in Franklin County, Va., Law was a popular 

farmer and family man near Reform who in 1861 

commanded a Missouri State Guard company that 

served with distinction at the Battle of Lexington. 

He then led many of these men as captain of Co. B, 

1st Missouri Confederate Cavalry, under Elijah P. 

Gates. Ascending to lieutenant colonel and second in 

command, he lost an arm in combat in the Vicksburg 

campaign. Postwar he was elected Callaway County sheriff but 

in 1873 was mortally wounded by vigilantes while transporting a prisoner. 

At his deathbed he was joined by his old commander Gates, himself Bu-

chanan County sheriff, despite his own loss of an arm during the war. The 

heroic Law is remembered with an annual award honoring the county’s out-

standing law officer. Photo courtesy Isham Holland.

Union Occupation of Fulton

The governmental seat of Callaway County, Fulton was occupied much 
of the war by Union troops, contrary to a short-lived non-invasion agree-
ment Col. Jefferson Jones and local volunteers elicited from Union mili-
tia Brig. Gen. John B. Henderson in October 1861.

The first brief instance had been after the July 17, 1861, Overton Run 
skirmish south of Fulton, when troops under Col. John McNeil and then 
Lt. Col. Adam Hammer entered Fulton. Objecting to the Missouri Tele-
graph’s positive depiction of a Southerner killed in the skirmish, Ham-
mer’s men ransacked the news office — the first local press “censorship.”

After Union General John C. Fremont, commanding from St. Louis, 
declared martial law throughout Missouri in August 1861, local provost 
marshals enforced military law; they were empowered to identify citizens 
as disloyal, who, if convicted by military tribunals, could be incarcerated 
at St. Louis’s Gratiot Street Prison, Alton (Ill.) or Jefferson City. “Disloy-
al” property owners were to bear the cost of Union occupation; citizens 
deemed disloyal were ordered to post bond or take a loyalty oath.

While Isaac D. Snedecor was provost marshal here, his brother James  — 
once a Callaway Guard — was sentenced to death, though not executed, 
for bridge burning. Captain Snedecor also monitored Southern sympa-
thizer John B. Williams’ Telegraph, controlling its ink and paper supplies.  

From December 1861 to summer 1862, Fulton was occupied by a battal-
ion of the 3rd Iowa Cavalry. Scouting the “brush” and fighting at Moore’s 
Mill, the 3rd Iowa made a positive enough impression to attract some 
Fulton enlistees.
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The antebellum Callaway County Courthouse occupying this site also housed Union 
troops but remained open for business. Frank Stack art courtesy The Callaway Bank.

However, Lt. Col. Arnold Krekel’s St. Louis-area German-American cav-
alry battalion, serving here in late 1862, was derided as “Krekel’s Dutch,” 
guilty of numerous depredations, including summary executions of Wil-
liam and David Givens and Unionist  Charles Hill, at Prairie Chapel, 
Sept. 4, 1862, during a Federal “search-and-destroy” mission for Confed-
erate guerrillas.

The Union hold on Fulton was broken briefly when 180 partisan cavalry 
under notorious guerrilla Capt. Alvin Cobb galloped through Fulton on 
August 13, 1862, looting stores and briefly detaining Union men as well 
as confiscating their horses. Afterward, Fulton enjoyed an anxious peace, 
mostly undisturbed by the sporadic violence in rural Callaway.

At various times, Union troops occupied the Fulton State Hospital (above, as in 1884), 
then called the State Lunatic Asylum, and the Missouri School for the Deaf (formerly 
the Deaf and Dumb Asylum), both closed during the war. For more on the county’s 
wartime history, visit the nearby Kingdom of Callaway Historical Society Museum.
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